saxinstitute

Evidence Check

The effectiveness of services led or run by consumers in mental health

An **Evidence Check** rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Mental Health Commission of New South Wales. August 2015.

An **Evidence Check** rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Mental Health Commission of New South Wales.

August 2015.

This report was prepared by:

Flick Grey and Mary O'Hagan

© Sax Institute 2015

This work is copyright. It may be reproduced in whole or in part for study training purposes subject to the inclusions of an acknowledgement of the source. It may not be reproduced for commercial usage or sale. Reproduction for purposes other than those indicated above requires written permission from the copyright owners.

Enquiries regarding this report may be directed to the:

Manager Knowledge Exchange Program Sax Institute www.saxinstitute.org.au knowledge.exchange@saxinstitute.org.au Phone: +61 2 91889500

Suggested Citation:

Grey F and O'Hagan M. The effectiveness of services led or run by consumers in mental health: rapid review of evidence for recovery-oriented outcomes: an Evidence Check rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute (<u>www.saxinstitute.org.au</u>) for the Mental Health Commission of New South Wales.

Disclaimer:

This **Evidence Check Review** was produced using the Evidence Check methodology in response to specific questions from the commissioning agency.

It is not necessarily a comprehensive review of all literature relating to the topic area. It was current at the time of production (but not necessarily at the time of publication). It is reproduced for general information and third parties rely upon it at their own risk.

The effectiveness of services led or run by consumers in mental health: rapid review of evidence for recoveryoriented outcomes

An **Evidence Check** rapid review brokered by the Sax Institute for the Mental Health Commission of New South Wales. August 2015.

This report was prepared by Flick Grey and Mary O'Hagan.

Contents

1	Executive summary	5
2	Background and introduction	6
3	Analysis of the literature	9
	Review question 1: "For mental health services that are or include components which are consumer run and/or consumer led, what is the evidence base for effectiveness with respect to recovery-oriented outcomes?"	9
	Sub-question (a): What does "effectiveness" look like? Ie. How have recovery-oriented outcomes been measured and what sorts of effects (benefits) have been reported?	9
	Sub-question (b): What are the enablers and barriers associated with 'optimal effectiveness'?	11
	Sub-question (c): Is there evidence for differences in effectiveness outcomes across population sub- groups of interest to the agency?	13
	Sub-question (d): What are the features of 'successful' consumer run and/or led services? For the NSW setting, are there any key recommendations for best practice in mental health services and the place for consumer led/run components (i.e. including issues of governance or business model)? The reviewer is welcome to suggest an innovation or framework as a case study	or
4	Conclusions / policy and practice implications	17
5	References	18
6	Appendix A: How has the review been conducted?	25
7	Appendix B: Papers included in the review	26

1 Executive summary

There is a small but steadily growing number of research studies showing that services controlled and run by people with lived experience of mental illness ("Consumer-operated services") are effective in supporting recovery. Such services tend to be characterized by consumer control, choice, voluntary participation and opportunities for decision-making by consumers (Holter et al 2004).

Most of the evidence for the effectiveness of consumer-operated services comes from the United States, where three large studies have each published multiple papers on their findings. The largest, the "Consumer Operated Services Program" (COSP) study (see Clay et al 2005) examined eight consumer-operated services and compared the recovery outcomes of people who used these services with people who only used traditional services. They found that people who accessed consumer-operated services experienced improved levels of empowerment, social inclusion, well-being, housing, employment, hope and program satisfaction, than those who accessed only traditional services. There were, however, significant differences between results from the different COS programs. Another study (see Nelson et al 2006) compared a range of recovery measures for participants in four consumer-run organisations, over three years, with participants who did not access consumer-run organisations. They found that participants in the consumer-run organisations had small increases in quality of life, spent fewer days in psychiatric hospitals, used emergency services less, participated more in employment and education, had more stable mental health, enhanced social support and more stable income, when compared with people who did not access these organisations. They also found that these results continued after three years. The third study (see Segal et al 2013b) examined what qualities of consumer-operated services led to improved recovery outcomes. They consistently found positive results for consumer-operated services, with the exception of one hierarchicallystructured organization. It is not, however, possible to generalize from this one study. A large number of smaller studies, including research looking at peer-run respites as alternatives to psychiatric hospitalization (e.g. Croft and İsvan 2013) also showed promising results.

There is not enough evidence to say how these results relate to members of population subgroups, such as people living in rural and remote settings, members of Culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) communities, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) people. What evidence there is points to the possibility that some people may prefer to seek treatment from culture-specific organisations, rather than mental health organisations. It is also important that the staff working in consumer-operated services reflect the population of people who use the service.

Recommendations of this report include the commissioning of a survey of consumer-operated services in Australia (similar to two conducted in the United States – Goldstrom et al 2006 and Ostrow et al 2014), to find out what is currently happening. Evaluation of existing services is also encouraged, with an emphasis on the kinds of outcomes that are meaningful to consumers. This will mean that consumers need to be involved in the research processes. Finally, it is also important that consumer-operated services that are particularly successful be encouraged to document what it is that they are doing well, to share their success stories and inspire others.

2 Background and introduction

While people with lived experience of mental illness have long been offering informal support to each other – probably wherever they have been brought together – it is only since the 1970s that such support has become more formalised and organised, leading to the emergence of various consumer-run services, especially in the United States (SAMHSA 2011; Nelson et al 2006, 2007; Clay et al 2005). There is a strong emphasis on peer-support in the UK, but much less of an emphasis on peer-run organisations, aside from peer-run self-help groups (Faulkner et al 2013; Faulkner and Kalathil 2012). In Australia, no survey has been conducted of peer-run organisations. Queensland has the most developed approach: the Consumer-Operated Services (COS) program, which was evaluated in 2013 (Australian Healthcare Associates 2013).

Holter et al (2004) surveyed national experts on consumer-run organisations in the US and found that consumer control, consumer choice, voluntary participation (the absence of coercion), opportunities for decision-making and respect for members by staff were considered critical elements of consumer-run services. Mead et al (2001) describe 'a system of giving and receiving help founded on key principles of respect, shared responsibility, and mutual agreement of what is helpful.' Solomon (2004) points to social support and experiential knowledge as key ingredients. More recently, based on a survey of 380 consumer-run organisations in the US, Ostrow and Leaf (2014) identified the elements of 'empowerment, self-direction, and mutual relationships.'

While there is relatively broad agreement about values, there is no consistent *language* used in the literature to refer to services controlled or delivered by people with a lived experience of mental illness. A variety of terms are used, and these terms are used inconsistently across the literature, to refer to a variety of roles and service structures. In this report, the terms "peer" and "consumer" are used interchangeably, reflecting their widespread use. While a great deal of work has been undertaken to describe the different roles that peer/consumer workers may engage in, and the different environments they might work in (e.g. HWA 2013), this is an environment characterized by considerable variation and ongoing change. The National Mental Health Consumer/Survivor Self-Help Clearinghouse uses the language of "Consumer Directed Services" (www.mhselfhelp.org); Goldstrom et al (2006), in their 2002 national US survey, differentiated between mutual support groups (MSG), self-help organisations (SHO, which included advocacy organisations) and consumer-operated services (COS), although they – confusingly – included carer groups and organisations, undifferentiated from consumer groups and organisations. Ostrow and Leaf (2014) use the terms "consumer-operated service programs," "peer-run organizations" and "Mental health peer-controlled services" interchangeably in the space of just one paragraph. The literature is replete with research studies that have invented new acronyms to describe their object of study, including: CSI - Consumer-Survivor Initiatives (Nelson and colleagues 2006); CRA - Consumer-run agencies (Hodges 2006); CLMH - Consumer-Led Mental Health services (Doughty and Tse 2011); and BSR-COSP - Board-and-staff-run Consumer-Operated Service Programs (Segal et al 2013a). Various definitions or inclusion criteria have also been suggested: SAMHSA's (2011) report on Consumer-Operated Services offers the definition: 'a peer-run program or service that is administratively controlled and operated by the mental health consumers and emphasizes self-help as its operational approach,' where administrative control is defined as a minimum of 51% of consumers on the board, and a consumer director. Ostrow and Leaf (2014) offer this definition:

Peer-run organizations are defined as "programs, businesses, or services controlled and operated by people who have received mental health services," with the mission of using support, education, and

advocacy to promote wellness, empowerment, and recovery for individuals with mental disorders. (Ostrow and Leaf 2014:239)

They outline the following criteria, developed by a five-member panel of consumer advocates, technical assistance providers, program directors and researchers: an incorporated, independent nonprofit organization or a nonincorporated organization that operates independently from a parent organization; at least 51% of the board of directors or advisory board are peers; the director is a peer; and most staff members or volunteers are peers (2014:240). They stress that any definition must emerge from consumers. It is not clear, however, what constitutes "independence" or "most staff or volunteers."

While recognising the diversity of language and inclusion criteria used across the literature, this report has opted to use the language of Consumer-Operated Services (COS), following Australian Healthcare Associates (2013), Ahmed (2013), SAMHSA (2011) and Clay et al (2005). The distinction suggested in the project brief between "consumer-run" services (ie. organisations run by and for mental health consumers) and "consumer led" services (i.e. services staffed by consumers, but with governance structures or oversight involving non-consumers) is not supported by the literature (except in passing in Doughty and Tse 2011). In fact, this language may cause confusion with another distinction made in the literature: between *consumer leadership* as an emerging paradigm that contrasts with the older *consumer representation* paradigm (Gordon 2005, Happell and Roper 2006, Victorian Government Department of Human Services 2007). Because the language used in the literature is so diverse, this report does not consistently impose the term "Consumer-Operated Service" onto research studies where this may not accurately reflect the nature of the organisations being studied.

One way of conceptualising differences in degree of consumer control is offered by the Consumer Involvement Station (2014) at the University of Melbourne. Drawing on Arnstein's ladder - a well-known tool for analysing different models of participation - a distinction is drawn between contexts that are:

- *Consumer-controlled*: where a service or project is initiated and run by mental health consumers (e.g. a consumer-run advocacy program);
- *Delegated power:* where space is created within non-consumer-controlled environments and offered to consumers to control (e.g. a peer-run support group on an acute unit);
- *Partnership*: where consumers and non-consumers collaboratively create, design and implement a service or project (e.g. education courses co-designed within a Recovery College).

These three contexts are all identified as involving consumer power, albeit with different structural relationships to sharing power with non-consumers. These three are contrasted with forms of consumer participation in which consumers lack control: these may either be *tokenistic* or worse. One particularly pernicious pattern Arnstein describes as *"therapeutic"* forms of participation, where there is a pretense of valuing consumer contributions, accompanied by an implicit agenda to be therapeutic for the consumer service-providers. Such approaches are dishonest and disrespectful of the contributions made by consumers. Another is contexts Arnstein describes as *"manipulative"*, where consumers are provided with a script/formula, which has been created by others. Unfortunately, there are many examples in the literature of consumer workers being in contexts that Arnstein would describe as *"therapeutic"* or *"manipulative"* - an example of the latter is contexts where a consumer role is intended to *"improve* consumer cooperation with nursing staff" or *"improve* engagement with the mental health service" (both examples are from Nestor and Galletly 2008:346). While Arnstein's language (especially the term *"delegated* power") may be of limited usefulness, the distinctions she draws may be useful.

However, as Goldstrom et al (2006) note, these groups 'exist on a continuum with amorphous boundaries.' The Hearing Voices movement in Australia clearly demonstrates this fluidity. The national Hearing Voices Network Australia (HVNA) is auspiced by Richmond Fellowship WA (http://hvna.net.au) and brings together voice hearers, professionals and family members: this suggests HVNA can be understood as a partnership, according to Arnstein's typology. However, a group within this network, Voices Vic, self-describes variously as being 'led by people with a lived experience' (www.prahranmission.org.au/ourservices/voicesvic/#page_1) and as 'a network of professionals, carers and voice hearers' (www.prahranmission.org.au/ourservices/voices-vic/#page_2). Like HVNA, Voices Vic has a relationship with a community mental health organization, Prahran Mission, but it is not clear whether this relationship would be best described as delegated power or partnership. In 2011, Voices Vic was jointly awarded a Gold Award at The Mental Health Services conference in the "Consumer-Provided Services" category (www.themhs.org/award archive.php?type=1&year=2012), suggesting that Voices Vic is making a valuable contribution and could be characterized as in some sense "consumer-provided." This current review did not need to come to any conclusions on this issue since, while Voices Vic is actively researching its approach, there is currently insufficient research to determine its effectiveness (Voices Vic 2009). This is arguably an area of increasing interest, accompanied by increased research activity, suggesting that further work is needed to articulate what constitutes a consumer-operated service, and when and why such distinctions are important in the Australian context.

Excluded from scope were materials that discussed consumer work roles that did not involve direct support (e.g. in education of the non-consumer workforce, research, service planning, evaluation or quality improvement roles). While these roles undoubtedly impact on recovery-oriented outcomes for consumers, by contributing to creating a workforce and service environments that are more conducive to recovery, the outcomes of such work have not been evaluated for their impact on recovery-oriented outcomes for service users. This is not to discount the critical importance of such work. In fact, some of the observations about enablers and barriers in this report would suggest that education of the non-consumer workforce, for example, has a particularly important role to play in enabling the work of consumers who provide direct support.

Distinctions between services (and roles) that provide direct support and those that do not are not necessarily clear-cut, however. Ostrow and Leaf (2014) distinguish between organisations that provide direct peer support and those that are primarily technical assistance or advocacy centres. Examples of the former might include the National Empowerment Centre in the US and Our Consumer Place in Victoria; examples of the latter might include Advocacy Unlimited in the US (see Clay 2005) and Being: Mental Health & Wellbeing Consumer Advisory Group in NSW. However, as Clay et al (2005) explore in the context of Advocacy Unlimited, in the contemporary recovery environment, clear-cut distinctions between education, information provision, advocacy and "support" are not necessarily always possible or even useful: for some people, participation in advocacy may be an empowering part of their recovery journey. The emergence of Recovery Colleges in the US, UK and, more recently Australia, offers another example of the diversification of the recovery environment, beyond services conceptualised as offering predominantly "support." As the roles and environments in which consumers work diversify, it is becoming increasingly difficult to determine what kinds of services should be considered within the scope of a review such as this.

3 Analysis of the literature

Review question 1: "For mental health services that are or include components which are consumer run and/or consumer led, what is the evidence base for effectiveness with respect to recovery-oriented outcomes?"

There is a small but growing body of evidence that demonstrates the effectiveness of consumer-operated services with respect to recovery-oriented outcomes. The evidence base is relatively small and there are no meta-analyses of this evidence, but the results are consistently positive across a number of measures.

The strongest evidence comes from a small number of large-scale studies:

- The multi-site Consumer-Operated Services Program (COSP) study in the US (Rogers et al 2007, Campbell 2006, Clay et al 2005) involved eight consumer-operated services and ran over several years. Their results demonstrated that involvement in consumer-operated services had positive impacts on levels of empowerment, social inclusion, well-being, housing, employment, hope, recovery and program satisfaction.
- A series of studies by Segal and colleagues (including Segal et al 2002, 2010, 2011, 2013a, 2013b) has sought to understand what elements make consumer-operated services empowering. They consistently found positive results for consumer-operated services, including increased independent social functioning and personal empowerment.
- A series of studies by Nelson, Ochaka and colleagues (including Nelson et al 2006a, Nelson et al 2006b), examining participation in four consumer-operated services. Again they consistently found positive results, including reduced costs (when compared with traditional service usage), increased quality of life, increased level of functioning, reduced psychiatric symptoms, reduced use of psychiatric services, increased treatment satisfaction, greater participation in employment or education; more stable mental health and enhanced social support. Significantly, these results continued after 3 years.

A number of other, smaller studies also found a range of benefits, including social functioning (Yanos et al 2001, Segal et al 2002), personal empowerment (Segal et al 2002), hope and self-efficacy (Hodges et al 2008), quality of life (Bologna et al 2011), self-determination and self-awareness, advocacy, medication-related decision-making and meaningful engagement with traditional providers (Jones et al 2013), reduced use of emergency and inpatient services (Croft et al 2013), and reduced costs, increased level of functioning, reduction in psychiatric symptoms and increase in treatment satisfaction (Greenfield et al 2008).

This review also posed a number of sub-questions:

Sub-question (a): What does "effectiveness" look like? Ie. How have recovery-oriented outcomes been measured and what sorts of effects (benefits) have been reported?

A number of different measures may be considered as markers of "effectiveness". While the most relevant to this review are the effects on service-users (discussed above), this review also considers as relevant:

- the effects on consumer service-providers;
- the effects on mental health services;
- fidelity to consumer philosophies (ie. guarding against both tokenism and co-optation);

• cost-effectiveness.

While these measures are only indirectly relevant to the key question in this review, it is suggested that a service that is effective in providing results for service users, but at the expense of the consumer service-providers or by co-opting consumer workers into inauthentic ways of working, can hardly be viewed as genuinely "effective." Similarly, it is inappropriate to laud the cost-effectiveness of consumer-provided services if this is predicated on the exploitation of consumer workers: while consumers have as much right as others do to volunteer their time and skills to organisations, fair remuneration for consumer workers needs to be given serious consideration – all too often, consumers workers are treated as "paraprofessionals" and unpaid or underpaid (Watson 2013).

There are complex relationships between these factors. In the context of the impact on consumer serviceproviders, it is important to neither over-emphasise nor under-emphasise the benefits to the consumer workers themselves. A variety of findings have suggested that peer work offers recovery benefits to the individual consumer workers (e.g. Salzer et al 2013, Biedrzycki 2008, Rapp et al, 2008, McDiarmid et al 2005), while other studies have suggested, to the contrary, that peer work comes at a high cost (e.g. Byrnes 2013, Bennetts et al 2013). It is also important to bear in mind that peer workers need to be recruited because they can do the specific job (Carlson et al 2001, Chinman et al 2006, Orwin 2008), not just for their own recovery outcomes. As one provider, quoted in Orwin et al says 'a special recipe for disaster is the belief that you should employ someone because you think it will do them good. It's also important to be clear about what is being studied - for example, some studies have conflated the outcomes for service users and the outcomes for (peer) service providers, measuring the "impact" of peer work in how it affects the recovery journeys of the peer support providers. This treats peer support workers as if they are themselves service users, rather than service providers (and is an example of what Arnstein would denounce as "therapeutic" participation, see discussion earlier), which can potentially devalue the contribution and work of consumer providers and their capacity to positively influence the recovery journeys of others. However, the differentiation between support-provider and support-recipient should also not be overly reified, given that one of the qualities of peer support emphasised in the literature is mutuality - the capacity for consumers to both give and receive support.

In terms of fidelity to consumer philosophies, there is a strong tendency for peer-reviewed articles to be written by non-consumer professionals (Doughty and Tse 2011:264, an observation also borne out by the data-collection for this study - see Appendix B). Research studies may thus not be grounded in consumer philosophical principles. For example, Gomez (2013) studied Certified Peer Support Specialists, using two outcomes as measures of effectiveness: inpatient psychiatric hospital admissions and treatment adherence in regards to professional appointments kept - it is quite striking that such a recent study could ignore contemporary recovery-orientation.

Hardiman et al (2005) note that evidence based practice tends to require 'standardised and structured' interventions, whereas consumer-run organisations often offer highly individualised, unstructured support. Faulkner and Kalathil (2012) argue that: 'It would be almost impossible and perhaps also undesirable to conduct a conventional randomised controlled trial of the benefits of being a member of a peer support group.' Thus, it is suggested, research methods that are able to remain faithful to peer philosophies should be considered.

In terms of cost-effectiveness, a number of studies have demonstrated that consumer-run services are costeffective (Dumont et al 2002, Greenfield et al 2008, Doughty et al 2011, Yates et al 2011, Trachtenberg et al 2013). However, cost-effectiveness must also be considered in conjunction with the other markers of success - for example, a service could hardly be described as "successful" if its cost-effectiveness is predicated on the underpayment of the consumer workforce. For example, Yates et al (2011) compared eight consumer-operated service programs in terms of cost-effectiveness and concluded that programs should be designed so they can rapidly increase or decrease staff and facilities in response to consumer demand, "minimising fixed costs," including using ad hoc rented spaces in preference to longer-term leases, and using volunteer labour and not paying staff higher salaries. By contrast, Holter et al (2004) specifically point to consistent funding and adequate building spaces as two of the top issues for effective consumerrun services. Treating services provided by consumers as simply a cheap source of labour is likely to undermine working conditions for consumers (and may also cause understandable resentment from other professionals, as reported by Nestor et al (2008)).

Sub-question (b): What are the enablers and barriers associated with 'optimal effectiveness'?

"Pressure to implement consumer-providers without thoughtful planning may result in tokenism, setting up the consumer, providers, and the agency for unforeseen barriers and challenges." (Garrison 2010:2)

Some key challenges in implementing consumer work more generally have been consistently identified in the literature and some thoughtful, experientially-based strategies to address these challenges have also been articulated (Carlson et al 2001, Stewart et al 2006, Biedrzycki 2008, Orwin 2008, Maclean 2009, Garrison 2010, Davidson et al 2012, Bennetts et al 2013, Byrne 2014, Ahmed 2015). These challenges can be divided into three categories:

- organisational commitment to consumer work;
- attitudes and practices of non-consumer colleagues;
- supports and conditions for consumer workers.

Insufficient research has been conducted into consumer-operated services to identify barriers and enablers specific to this context. Some of these barriers identified in the more general peer-delivered service literature might be assumed not to be relevant consumers employed in consumer-operated services, but the literature suggests otherwise (e.g. CMHA 2005, Hardiman et al 2005, Alberta et al 2012, Moran et al 2013, Ahmed et al 2015). CMHA (2005) found that peer workers were often paid less in peer-run organisations than peer workers in other organisations, due to lack of funding. Ahmed et al (2015) found peer specialists in a statewide consumer network faced poor compensation, limited employment opportunities, work stress, emotional stress and challenges in maintaining personal wellness. Hardiman et al (2005) report that other professionals tend to devalue services offered by consumer workers, and that this impacts on consumers working in consumer-run services when they interface with other services. Likewise, Alberta et al (2012) reported on a number of peer-run centres auspiced by a larger community mental health organisation and noted that the peer workers were relegated to a 'sort of junior status' and there was a reluctance among non-peer staff to cede real control over the service delivery process; they conclude that 'Although the centers operate as freestanding entities, these challenges still confront PSS [peer support staff], as they regularly come into contact with professional staff members associated with other organizations.' Moran et al (2013) examined experiences of peer workers in both traditional and peer-run services and found that workers in both found the conditions poor (including low pay, stress and burnout), lack of role clarity and insufficient training. Workers in peer-run organisations additionally experienced a lack of role clarity and loose work structure and roles.

Organisational commitment to consumer work

An issue that can either be an enabler or barrier to effective consumer work is organisational commitment (or lack thereof) to the value (and values) of consumer work: organisational recognition that consumer workers offer something that is of particular value (Biedrzycki 2008). This involves clear identification and valuing of the unique contribution made by consumer workers, rather than, for example, peers 'being assigned tasks that other staff are simply too busy to perform (such as filing or providing transportation)' (Davidson et al 2012). While this is especially true of non-consumer organisations that employ peer workers, it is also relevant to funding bodies, policy makers and organisations that auspice stand-alone consumer-operated services. Organisational commitment includes strong and consistent championing, active support and commitment to understanding consumer work from senior managers, funders and policy makers, addressing systemic issues, prioritising the development of consumer work and setting an example for other staff and organisations (Biedrzycki 2008, Orwin 2008, Maclean 2009, Davidson et al 2012). Furthermore, this commitment extends into thinking longer-term: as Garrison (2010) notes, 'Commitment by an agency to create positions specifically for consumers as providers should also involve a longer-term commitment to assist these individuals in developing a long-term professional career.'

Attitudes and practices of non-consumer colleagues

Another factor that has tended to be a barrier, but can be an enabler, is the attitudes of non-consumer colleagues. Some peer workers have felt that they have to prove themselves to their colleagues (Bierdzrycki 2008). Nestor et al (2008) point to non-consumer staff fears that they will be replaced by peer workers, especially if they are seen as a cheaper alternative, and fears of being observed and negatively evaluated by peer workers. Mancini and Lawson (2009) describe consumer workers as performing significant emotional labor in negotiating their working relationships, and as requiring relevant supports to avoid emotional exhaustion and burnout. Consumers working in consumer-operated services no doubt are shielded from having to negotiate these attitudinal barriers on a daily basis but, as noted above, these issues are relevant at the interface between consumer-operated services and other services.

Consumer work is most effective when it is actively supported by non-consumer colleagues: the Consumer Involvement Station (2014) describes this in terms of "allies" - non-consumers who actively champion and support consumer workers. Specific training may be needed to prepare organisations who engage with consumer workers (Biedrzycki 2008; Garrison 2010), including consumer-operated services, including training in peer philosophies, expectations of peer staff, disability and discrimination legislation and its implications for hiring and the provision of reasonable accommodations (for example, Davidson et al (2012) note that some measures used to ensure that consumer workers are "well enough" to work, such as mandatory Wellness Recovery Action Plans, may constitute discrimination under disability law). It has been noted that non-consumer colleagues tend to become more positively disposed towards consumer workers when they have contact with them, are able to ask questions and see the results of their work (Maclean 2009).

Hodges and Hardiman (2006) discuss in detail issues arising from partnerships between consumer-run and more traditional services, advocating strongly that such partnership are desirable. More work needs to be done in the Australian context to examine the strengths and challenges of different organizational structures. It is highly likely that, in practice, specific local conditions will influence – if not determine – what kinds of structures are most desirable and feasible.

Supports and conditions for consumer workers

There is wide-spread concern in the literature about the sub-optimal working conditions for consumer workers, leading to what Byrne (2014) in a PhD-length study of the lived-experience workforce describes as "risk to self" for those engaged in lived-experience work. It is important to clarify that this does not mean "risk of relapse" (based on an assumption that consumer workers are inherently vulnerable, due to their consumer status), but rather is an observation about the ways in which consumer workers are put under

unnecessary stress by inadequate working conditions. If reasonable accommodations are needed, these need to be understood in the context of disability law, rather than therapeutic supports.

Role clarity has been identified as important, including a clear job description (Carlson et al 2001, Davidson et al 2012, Bennetts et al 2013, Walker 2013); although Bierdrzycki (2008) notes that this may involve a period of learning and progressive role-clarification in contexts where consumer workers are new to an organisation. Career-development is another issue that needs to be addressed (Bennetts et al 2013, Health Workforce 2014).

Training is another issue that has attracted attention in the literature. Walker (2013) and Alberta et al (2012) observe that the wrong kinds of training can potentially lead to the "professionalisation" of the consumer workforce, that is, consumers being pushed to take on the values and practices of other disciplines, interfering with the advantages of consumer work. Training needs to be faithful to the philosophical underpinnings of consumer work (rather than, for example, generic training in Strengths-based approaches, suicide prevention and aggression management), including specific skills in how to use lived experience in the workplace (Davidson et al 2012). There is no consensus in the literature about whether such training should be in-house, or of any particular model, although it is argued that training needs to be offered by other consumers, rather than by educators with no experience in peer work (Orwin 2008). Training needs to be understood as ongoing, and as capacity building (Bierdrycki 2008).

Supervision has been identified as a critical issue (Orwin 2008 suggests supervision is "the most critical aspect" in successful peer support). There are differences of opinion within the literature about what constitutes best practices in supervision for consumer workers, although most suggest a range of options so consumer workers have choice, including supervision from other consumers or from non-consumers (particularly when this is contextualised in terms of consumers being treated the same as all members of the team), internal and external supervision (although Orwin 2008 suggests supervision needs to be external to the consumer workers' team), individual and group (Bierdrzycki 2008). Supervisors need to understand consumer work, its philosophical underpinnings and be trained as a supervisor (Orwin 2008). Part of the role of a supervisor to consumer workers is supporting them to "stay peer," which may be more difficult for non-consumer supervisors. Mentoring has also been mentioned as a potential support for consumer work (Biedrzycki 2008). Mutual support contexts also have value, such as monthly gatherings for consumer workers to network, discuss issues of concern and share experiences with each other (Carlson et al 2001).

A final enabler that may be of relevance to the NSW context is discussed in Rogers (2010) - Technical Assistance Centres designed specifically to support consumer-run services, including supporting recoveryorientation and consumer empowerment in the planning, delivery and evaluation of mental health services. Our Consumer Place in Victoria (www.ourconsumerplace.com.au) was initially established with this vision in mind. While there has been no formal evaluation of the impact of TACs (and it's likely that their impact is too diffuse to be measured directly), it makes sense that a centralised resource centre could be of benefit, both to consumer-run services and to non-consumer-run services that might want support with employing consumer workers and increasing their recovery orientation.

Sub-question (c): Is there evidence for differences in effectiveness outcomes across population subgroups of interest to the agency?

There is very little evidence for effectiveness of outcomes for consumer-operated services (of any kind) across population sub-groups of interest to the MHC:

- Rural and remote;
- Culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD);

- Aboriginal people;
- Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT).

A broader scope of literature has been included that may offer insights relevant to these groups. Two studies looking at peer support interventions explicitly included rural participants (Griffiths et al 2010, Cook et al 2011): Griffiths et al (2010) did not include the results of their study but did note the likely usefulness of online communities for rural consumers, while Cook et al (2011) noted that the positive results of a 12-week, peer-supported, manualised program on various recovery measures (hopefulness, empowerment, self-esteem, self-assertiveness) were comparable across urban, suburban and rural participants.

Te Pou (2010) point to the importance of actively recruiting consumer workers from ethnic minorities so that the workforce more closely reflects the service-user population. This extends to those supervising consumer workers (Tondoro 2010). Tondoro (2010) specifically sought to engage Latinos and African Americans in peer support groups, including questions about participants' cultural needs and culturally relevant experiences, including running groups in Spanish where appropriate. Their experience was that Latino participants were "difficult to engage" in social activities, since they stated they already had well-developed community and social networks. Orwin (2008) examined the role of peer support for Maori, Pacific Islander and Chinese participants, describing how peer support has been adapted in specific cultural ways, for example by involving the broader (ethnic) community in training and support, and by recognising a more collectivist sense of wellbeing (rather than focusing on individual autonomy). A number of roles that peer support workers play in these ethnic communities are described, including acting as surrogate family for consumers who are culturally dislocated, or as a cultural translator of the mental health system. Faulkner et al (2014) note that members of some minority communities find support in community-based organisations, rather than mental health-specific organisations. Faulkner and Kalathil (2012) interviewed participants in various mental health peer support environments and found that ethnic-specific mental health groups were particularly valued by members, who found communal solidarity and a strengthening of identity beyond mental health. Tondoro (2010) by contrast, found that some participants experienced such groups as "discriminatory." Goldstrom et al (2006) observed that for some ethnic minority groups in the US, groups run by spiritual or religious leaders may be described by participants as 'self-help groups' but would most likely fall outside of most definitions of consumer-operated services. Sav et al (2014) differentiate between consumer health organisations (CHOs) that are "condition based" (e.g. the National Schizophrenia Fellowship) and those that are "population based", where the focus is on a wider spectrum of issues faced by a particular community (e.g. Muslim Youth helpline). Their study involved in-depth, qualitative interviews with nearly 100 people with chronic health conditions (including, but not limited to mental health issues) and their carers and included an unusually large proportion of participants who were Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (24%) or from Culturally and Linguistically Diverse backgrounds (22%). They found that CHOs were experienced as valuable resources, providing information, connection and support for learning about self-management, but did not differentiate in their discussion between "condition" and "population" based organisations.

Rogers (2013) examined 69 LGBT services in the US (ie. services that were not mental health-specific) and evaluated their mental health supports, finding that many mental health needs were met by these services. Rogers (2013) also noted that LGBT services tended to be concentrated in urban areas and that the better funded organisations were better able to cater to the diversity of the LGBT community (e.g. providing services specifically for youth and people of color).

While there is limited evidence to make any conclusions on the basis of this literature, this is clearly an area that warrants for further investigation. Of course, consideration of these issues should integrally involve members of these communities.

Sub-question (d): What are the features of 'successful' consumer run and/or led services? For the NSW setting, are there any key recommendations for best practice in mental health services and the place for consumer led/run components (i.e. including issues of governance or business model)? The reviewer is welcome to suggest an innovation or framework as a case study.

It is clear from the research conducted by Clay et al (2005) (see also Campbell 2006 and Rogers 2007), as well as the surveys of Ostrow and colleagues (Ostrow et al 2014) and Goldstrom et al (2006) that a wide variety of consumer-operated services – of different sizes and structures and focused on different activities – can be successful.

The Consumer-Operated Services (COS) Program in Queensland offers a promising model for adoption in other states. These services adopt an Intentional Peer Support approach, and are the most elaborated model of consumer-run services in Australia. The evaluation of these services (Australian Healthcare Associates, 2013) demonstrates a high level of satisfaction of service users with these services, including detailed description of *how* participation has impacted upon participants (especially highlighting how participation in COS has led to reduced hospitalisations) but also the difficulty of imposing standardised evaluation criteria on a service that has a fundamentally different philosophical approach. For example, it was difficult to establish concrete participation rates, due to the explicitly fluid nature of people's involvement with the service - people were always free to come and go, using the service as they saw fit and "attendance records" were not kept. A second example was the rejection of the Recovery Assessment Scale (RAS), a commonly used tool for measuring recovery, because RAS was described as over-emphasising goal-setting, whereas Intentional Peer Support offers a more nuanced approach to how change occurs in people's lives. Measures like the RAS are well-suited to research that demands concrete, measurable outcomes, but may not capture the nuances of what occurs in consumer-run service contexts.

Another model that shows promise is the emergence of peer-run respites as alternatives to hospitalisation (e.g. Vestal 2015, Australian Healthcare Associates 2013, Croft and İsvan 2013, Bologna et al 2011, Dumont et al 2002). There is a growing body of evidence that such services are a useful addition to consumer options at times of crisis. As well as demonstrating effective outcomes, especially for people for whom hospitalization has not been a positive experience in the past, such programs have also demonstrated significant cost-savings: given the high cost of hospital admissions, this is a particularly attractive option in terms of long-term savings. Like the COS programs in Queensland, many of these use Intentional Peer Support as a training model, although this is not the only model for peer-run crisis respites.

Finally, within the various types of services that are run by consumers, a distinction has been made by a small group of researchers (Segal et al 2002, 2010, 2011, 2013a, 2013b) between what they describe as "organizationally empowering" Self-Help Agencies (SHA) and "hierarchically organised board-and-staff-run Consumer-Operated-Service-Programs" (BSR-COSP). Their research demonstrates that the former service-type promotes more recovery-oriented outcomes, such as increased hope, self-efficacy and empowerment and reduced self-stigma, when compared with either the latter type (hierarchical BSR-COSP) or conventional community mental health services. They argue that "organizationally empowering" Self-Help Agencies "reflect the goals and aspirations of the early leaders of the self-help movement who founded them" and are characterised by several qualities:

First, the people who use the services also run them and make all decisions—the service providers and recipients are one and the same. Second, these groups strive to share power, responsibility, and skills and endorse a nonhierarchical structure in which people reach across to each other rather than up and down a hierarchy. Third, client-run programs are based on choice: they are totally voluntary. Finally, the programs are based on a nonmedical approach to treating disturbing behavior, and they address the economic, social, and cultural needs of clients." (Segal and Silverman 2002:304) While the findings of these studies seem compelling, there are many shortcomings in their research methodology. Most critically, only one "hierarchically" organised service was included in any of the research, which means that the findings that this particular service was less effective than the four SHAs (or even than conventional community mental health services) may be due to factors other than hierarchical organisational structure (for example, the service may simply be of poor quality). Moreover, some of the measures used for "empowerment" involve circular logic - the degree to which consumers were actively involved in decisions in the agencies ("organisationally mediated empowerment") was measured and then interpreted to demonstrate that consumers were more empowered because they were actively involved in decisions in the agency. This measure - organizationally mediated empowerment - refers to the degree to which consumers are actively involved in decisions in the organization (e.g. voting for the board, making decisions about operations). Despite its name incorporating the word "empowerment," it is not clear whether this is actually important to people engaging in the organization. While Segal et al's research assumes that higher ratings of "organizationally mediated empowerment" are desirable, Brown et al (2008) found suggest that social participation may be more important for recovery-outcomes than organisational participation. More (robust) research is warranted to investigate the structural characteristics of consumerrun services that contribute most effectively to recovery-oriented outcomes.

4 Conclusions / policy and practice implications

- A survey be conducted (similar to Goldstom et al 2006 and Ostrow et al 2014 in the US) of existing consumer-operated services in Australia, including their business and governance models and relationships with non-consumer organisations (e.g. are they stand-alone, auspiced or operating in partnership?)
- Greater investment in consumer-operated services be considered, with consumers centrally involved in conceptualising, designing, operationalising and evaluating these services.
- Further research be conducted that explores the qualities of services that are effective, including fidelity to consumer philosophical values. This research may draw more on grey literature and would integrally involve consumer researchers.
- Issues to do with workplace conditions for consumer workers be considered a high priority, including role clarity, career paths, relevant training and supervision, as well as active support and championing from senior management of any auspicing bodies, funders and policy makers, and training for any non-consumer colleagues.
- Consumer-operated services that have overcome any of the barriers identified in this report (e.g. robust training materials, productive and mutually respectful relationships with non-consumer-controlled organisations, clear job descriptions, appropriate pay scales, supervision structures, etc) be encouraged and resourced where appropriate to document and share their materials and experiences.
- Evaluation be embedded into any services provided by consumers, to build up the evidence base for what works, in what contexts, and why. Existing consumer-operated services should be encouraged to document those outcomes and indicators that demonstrate program effectiveness, to build up an understanding of what "effectiveness" might look like in practice. Research should be considered that faithfully reflects the philosophical values of consumer work. This does not necessarily preclude quantitative research modalities, but it should mean involving consumers (including consumers from particular sub-groups, where relevant) in the conceptualization, design and implementation of research studies to ensure that research measures are meaningful to consumers. Resources are likely to be needed for this purpose.
- Expertise be sought from consumers with an understanding of the specific needs of subgroups of interest to the Commission to examine the complex issues alluded to in this report relating to the relevance of consumer-operated services to these subgroups. This may lead to clarity about any need for further research relevant to these subgroups.

5 References

Ahern L, Fisher D. Recovery at your own PACE. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2001;39:22–32.

- Ahmed A, Hunter K, Mabe A, Tucker S, Buckley P. The professional experiences of peer specialists in the Georgia Mental Health Consumer Network. Community Ment Health J 2015;51(4):424-36.
- Ahmed A, Doane N, Mabe A, Buckley P, Birgenheir D, Goodrum N. Peers and Peer-Led Interventions for People with Schizophrenia. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2012;35:699–715.
- Alberta A, Ploski R, Carlson S. Addressing Challenges to Providing Peer-Based Recovery Support. J Behav Health Serv Res 2012;39(4):481–91.
- Australian Healthcare Associates. Evaluation of the Community Mental Health Intentional Peer Support Training and Consumer Operated Services. Queensland, Australia. 2013.
- Barbic S, Krupa T, Armstrong I. A randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of a modified Recovery Workbook program: preliminary findings. Psychiatr Serv 2009;60:491–97.
- Bennetts W, Pinches A, Paluch T, Fossey E. Real lives, real jobs: Sustaining consumer perspective work in the mental health sector. Advances in Mental Health 2013;11(3):313-26.
- Biedrzycki K. Endpoint report of Baptist Community Services Peer Support Project Evaluation Integrating peer work into workplaces. South Australian Community Health Research Unit. 2008.
- Bologna M, Pulice R. Evaluation of a Peer-Run Hospital Diversion Program: A Descriptive Study. Am J Psychiatr Rehabil 2011;14(4):272-86.
- Brown L, Shepherd M, Merkle E, Wituk S, Meissen G. Understanding how participation in a consumer-run organization relates to recovery. Am J Community Psychol 2008;42:167–78.
- Burti L, Amaddeo F, Ambrosi M, Bonetto C, Cristofalo D, Ruggeri M, Tansella M. Does additional care provided by a consumer self-help group improve psychiatric outcome? A study in an Italian community-based psychiatric service. Community Ment Health J 2005;41(6):705–20.
- Byrne L. A grounded theory study of lived experience mental health practitioners within the wider workforce. Central Queensland University. 2014.
- Campbell J. The historical and philosophical development of peer-run programs. In Clay S, Schell B, Corrigan PW, Ralph RO, editors. On our own, together: Peer programs for people with mental illness. Nashville: Vanderbilt University Press. 2005.
- Campbell J. Emerging Research Base of Peer-Run Support Programs. USA. National Empowerment Centre. 2005. www.power2u.org/emerging_research_base.html
- Campbell J. Consumer-operated services program (COSP) multisite research initiative: Overview and preliminary findings. Saint Louis, MO: Missouri Institute of Mental Health. 2004.
- Campbell J, Lichtenstein C, Teague G, Johnsen M, Yates B, Sonnefeld J, et al. The Consumer-Operated Services Program (COSP) Multisite Research Initiative: Final report. Saint Louis, MO: Coordinating Center at the Missouri Institute of Mental Health. 2006. Available at: http://cosp.mimhtraining.com/final-report-10-chapters-appendices/

- Canadian Mental Health Association Ontario (CMHA). Consumer/Survivor Initiatives: Impact, Outcomes and Effectiveness. 2005. Available at: http://ontario.cmha.ca/public_policy/consumersurvivor-initiatives-impact-outcomes-and-effectiveness/#.VcMqViQVcII
- Carlson L, Rapp C, McDiarmid D. Hiring consumer-providers: Barriers and alternative solutions. Community Ment Health J 2001;37(3):199–213.
- Castelein S, Bruggeman R, van Busschbach J, van der Gaag M, Stant A, Knegtering H, et al. The effectiveness of peer support groups in psychosis: A randomized controlled trial. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2008;118:64–72.
- Chinman M, Rosenheck R, Lam J, Davidson L (2000). Comparing consumer and nonconsumer provided case management services for homeless persons with serious mental illness. J Nerv Ment Dis 2000;188(7):446-53.
- Chinman M, Weingarten R, Stayner D, Davidson L. Chronicity reconsidered: Improving person-environment fit through a consumer-run service. Community Ment Health J 2001;37(3):215–29.
- Clay S, Schell B, Corrigan P, Ralph R, editors. On Our Own, Together: Peer Programs for People With Mental Illness. Nashville, Vanderbilt University Press. 2005.
- Colson P, Francis L. Consumer staff and the role of personal experience in mental health services. Soc Work Ment Health 2009;7(4):385-401.
- Consumer Involvement Station. University of Melbourne, Department of Nursing. 2014. http://nursing.unimelb.edu.au/consumerinvolvementstation
- Cook J, Copeland M, Floyd C, Jonikas J, Hamiltion M, Razzano L, Carter T, Hudson W, Grey D, Boyd S. A randomized controlled trial of the effects of Wellness Recovery Action Planning on depression, anxiety, and recovery. Psychiatr Serv 2012;63(6):541–47.
- Cook J, Steigman P, Pickett S, Diehl S, Fox A, Shipley P, MacFarlane R, Grey D, Burke-Miller J. Randomized controlled trial of peer-led recovery education using Building Recovery of Individual Dreams and Goals through Education and Support (BRIDGES). Schizophr Res 2012;136:36–42.
- Corrigan P, Sokol K, Rusch N. The impact of self-stigma and mutual help programs on the quality of life of people with serious mental illnesses. Community Ment Health J 2013;49(1):1-6.
- Corrigan P. Impact of consumer-operated services on empowerment and recovery of people with psychiatric disabilities. Psychiatr Serv 2006;57(10):1493–96.
- Croft B, İsvan N. Impact of the 2nd Story Peer Respite Program on Use of Inpatient and Emergency Services. Psychiatr Serv 2013;66(6):632-37.
- David J, Baron R. Into the Thick of Things: Connecting Consumers to Community Life: A Compendium of Community Inclusion Initiatives For People with Psychiatric Disabilities At Consumer-Run Programs.
 Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Collaborative on Community Inclusion of Individuals with Psychiatric Disabilities. 2010. Available at: www.tucollaborative.org
- Davidson L, Bellamy C, Guy K, Miller R. Peer support among persons with severe mental illnesses: a review of evidence and experience. World Psychiatry 2012;11:123-28.
- Dillon J, Hornstein G. Hearing voices peer support groups: a powerful alternative for people in distress. Psychosis 2013;5(3): 286–95.

- Doughty C, Tse S. Can Consumer-Led Mental Health Services be Equally Effective? An Integrative Review of CLMH Services in High-Income Countries. Community Ment Health J 2011;47:252–66.
- Dumont J, Jones K. Findings from a consumer/survivor defined alternative to psychiatric hospitalization. Outlook 2002;4–6.
- Faulkner A, Kalathil J. The freedom to be, the chance to dream': Preserving user-led peer support in mental health. Together, UK. 2012. Available at: www.together-uk.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/The-Freedom-to-be-The-Chance-to-dream-Full-Report1.pdf
- Faulkner A, Sadd J, Hughes A, Thompson S, Nettle M, Wallcraft J, Collar J, de la Haye S, McKinley S. Piecing together the jigsaw: Mental health peer support in Enland. Mind, UK. 2013. Available at: www.mind.org.uk/media/715293/Peer-Support-Report-Peerfest-2013.pdf
- Fukui S, Davidson L, Holter M, Rapp C. Pathways to Recovery (PTR): Impact of Peer-Led Group Participation on Mental Health Recovery Outcomes. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2010;34(1):42–48.
- Garrison M, Ackerson B, Forrest J. Consumers as providers: What inhibits the success of this practice? Best Pract Ment Health 2010;6(2):1-12.
- Gestel-Timmermans H, Brouwers E, van Assen M, van Nieuwenhuizen C. Effects of a Peer-Run Course on Recovery From Serious Mental Illness: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Psychiatr Serv 2012;63(1):54-60.
- Goldstrom I, Campbell J, Rogers J, Lambert D, Blacklow B, Henderson M, Manderscheid R. National Estimates for Mental Health Mutual Support Groups, Self-Help Organizations, and Consumer-Operated Services. Adm Policy Ment Hlth 2006;33(1):92-103.
- Gomez T. An archival study of certified peer support specialist interventions: Outcomes for recipients of community mental health services program. Capella University. 2013.
- Gordon S. The role of the consumer in the leadership and management of mental health services. Australas Psychiatry 2005;13(4):362-65.
- Greenfield T, Stoneking B, Humphreys K, Sundby E, Bond J. A randomized trial of a mental health consumermanaged alternative to civil commitment for acute psychiatric crisis. Am J Community Psychol 2008;42:135–44.
- Happell B, Pinikahana J, Roper C. Attitudes of postgraduate nursing students towards consumer participation in mental health services and the role of the consumer academic. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2002;11(4):240-50.
- Happell B, Roper C. The myth of representation: the case for consumer leadership. Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health 2006;5(3).
- Hardiman E, Theriot M, Hodges J. Evidence-Based Practice in Mental Health: Implications and Challenges for Consumer-Run Programs. Best Pract Ment Health 2005;1(1):105-22.
- Health Workforce Australia. Mental Health Peer Workforce Study, Adelaide Australia. 2014.
- Hodges J, Hardiman E. Promoting Healthy Organizational Partnerships and Collaboration Between Consumer-runand Community Mental Health Agencies. Adm Policy Ment Hlth 2006;33(3):267-78.
- Hodges J, Hardiman E, Segal S. Hope among members of mental health self-help agencies: a descriptive analysis. Soc Work Ment Health 2004;2:1–16.

- Holter M, Mowbray C, Bellamy C, MacFarlane P, Dukarski J. Critical ingredients of consumer run services: Results of a national survey. Community Ment Health J 2004;40(1):47-63.
- Janzen R, Nelson G, Trainor J, Ochocka J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part IV – Benefits beyond the self? A quantitative and qualitative study of system-level activities and impacts. J Community Psychol 2006;34(3):285–303.
- Jones N, Corrigan P, James D, Larson N, Parker J. Peer Support, Self-Determination, and Treatment Engagement: A Qualitative Investigation. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013;36(3):209–14.
- Lawn S, Smith A, Hunter K. Mental health peer support for hospital avoidance and early discharge: An Australian example of consumer driven and operated service. J Ment Health 2008;17(5):498-508.
- Lewis S, Hopper K, Healion E. Partners in Recovery: Social Support and Accountability in a Consumer-Run Mental Health Center. Psychiatr Serv 2012;63(1):61-65.
- MacNeil C, Mead S. Honoring narrative evidence in the research and evaluation of peer support. Unpublished manuscript. 2003.
- Mancini M, Lawson H. Facilitating positive emotional labor in peer-providers of mental health services. Adm Soc Work 2009;33(1):3-22.
- McDiarmid D, Rapp C, Ratzlaff S. Design and Initial Results from a Supported Education Initiative: The Kansas Consumer as Provider Program. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2005;29(1):3-9.
- McLean J, Biggs H, Whitehead I, Pratt R, Maxwell M. Evaluation of the delivering for mental heath peer support worker pilot scheme. Scottish Government Social Research. 2009.
- Manning S, Brinkman E, Burgess D, Lucero L, Quarton B, Quarton D, Smith V. The CHARG Experience with Consumer-Professional Partnership. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2000;24(2):125-34.
- Mead S, Hilton D, Curtis L. Peer support: a theoretical perspective. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2001;23(2):134-41.
- Moran G, Russinova Z, Gidugu V, Gagne C. Challenges Experienced by Paid Peer Providers in Mental Health Recovery: A Qualitative Study. Community Ment Health J 2013;49:281–91.
- Nelson G, Lomotey J. Quantity and quality of participation and outcomes of participation in mental health consumer-run organizations. J Ment Health 2006;15(1):63–74.
- Nelson G, Ochocka J, Janzen R, Trainor J, Goering P, Lomotey J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part V-Outcomes at 3-year follow-up. J Community Psychol 2007;35(5):655-65.
- Nelson G, Ochocka J, Janzen R, Trainor J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 1–Literature review and overview of the study. J Community Psychol 2006a;34(3):247–60.
- Nelson G, Ochocka J, Janzen R, Trainor J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 2—a quantitative study of impacts of participation on new members. J Community Psychol 2006b;34(3):261–72.
- Nestor P, Galletly C. The employment of consumers in mental health services: politically correct tokenism or genuinely useful? Australas Psychiatry 2008;16(5):344-47.
- Ochocka J, Nelson G, Janzen R, Trainor J. A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 3—a qualitative study of impacts of participation on new members. J Community Psychol 2006;34(3):273–83.

- Orwin D. Thematic Review of Peer Supports: Literature review and leader interviews. Mental Health Commission Wellington, New Zealand. 2008.
- Ostrow L, Croft B. Toolkit For Evaluating Peer Respites: Interviews with and surveys of peer respite programs reveal important evaluation and program design considerations. 2014. Available at: www.power2u.org/downloads/Peer-Respite-Toolkit.pdf
- Ostrow L, Leaf P. Improving Capacity to Monitor and Support Sustainability of Mental Health Peer-Run Organizations. Psychiatr Serv 2014;65(2):239-41.
- Pickett S, Diehl S, Steigman P, Prater J, Fox A, Shipley P, Grey D, Cook J. Consumer empowerment and selfadvocacy outcomes in a randomized study of peer-led education. Community Ment Health J 2012;48(4):420-30.
- Pickett S, Phillips H, Nobiling J. Peer-led recovery international groups for mental health consumers. Psychiatr Serv 2012;63(3):295.
- Rapp C, McDiarmid D, Marty D, Ratzlaff S, Collins A, Sadaaki F. A Two-Year Longitudinal Study of the Kansas Consumers as Providers Training Program. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2008;32(1):40–46.
- Repper J, Carter T. A review of the literature on peer support in mental health services. J Ment Health 2011;20(4):392–411.
- Rogers M. Enhancing LGBTQ emotional health: The role of LGBT community centers in addressing access to mental health and social support services. University of California, Santa Barbara. 2013.
- Rogers S. Consumer and consumer-supporter national Technical Assistance Centers: Helping the consumer movement grow and transform systems. In Brown L, Wituk S, editors. Mental health self-help: Consumer and family initiatives. New York: Springer Science & Business Media. 2010. 265-86.
- Rogers S, Teague G, Lichenstein C, Campbell J, Lyass A, Chen R, et al. Effects of participation in consumeroperated service programs on both personal and organizationally mediated empowerment: Results of multisite study. J Rehabil Res Dev 2007;44(6):785–800.
- Rowe M, Bellamy C, Baranoski M, Wieland M, O'Connell M, Benedict P, Davidson L, Buchanan J, Sells D. A peer-support, group intervention to reduce substance use and criminality among persons with severe mental illness. Psychiatr Serv 2007;58(7):955–61.
- Salzer M, Liptzin Shear S. Identifying consumer-provider benefits in evaluations of consumer-delivered services. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2002;25(3):281-88.
- Salzer M, CalhounG, Loss R, Schwenk E, Salzer M, DarrN, BoyerW, GoesselJ, Brusilovskiy E. Benefits of Working as a Certified Peer Specialist: Results From a Statewide Survey. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013;36(3):219–21.
- Sav A, McMillan S, Kelly F, Whitty J, Kendall E, King M, Wheeler A. Consumer health organisations for chronic conditions: why do some people access them and others don't? Prim Health Care Res Dev 2014;15(4):418-29.
- Schutt R, Rogers S. Empowerment and peer support: Structure and process of self-help in a consumer-run center for individuals with mental illness. J Community Psychol 2009;37(6):697–710.
- Segal S, Silverman C, Temkin T. Are all consumer-operated programs empowering self-help agencies? Soc Work Ment Health 2013a;11:1-15.

- Segal S, Silverman C, Temkin T. Self-Stigma and Empowerment in Combined-CMHA and Consumer-Run Services: Two Controlled Trials. Psychiatr Serv 2013b;64(10):990-96.
- Segal S, Silverman C, Temkin T. Outcomes from consumer-operated and community mental health services: a randomized controlled trial. Psychiatr Serv 2011;62(8):915-21.
- Segal S, Silverman C, Temkin T. Self-help and community mental health agency outcomes: A recoveryfocused randomized controlled trial. Psychiatr Serv 2010;61(9):905-10.
- Segal S, Silverman C. Determinants of client outcomes in self- help agencies. Psychiatr Serv 2002;53:304-09.
- Steward S, Watson S, Montague R, Stevenson C. Set up to fail? Consumer participation in the mental health service system. Australas Psychiatry 2008;16(5):348-53.
- Solomon P, Draine J. The state of knowledge of the effectiveness of consumer provided services. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2001;25(1):20-27.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Consumer-Operated Services: The Evidence. Center for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2011. Available at: https://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA11-4633CD-DVD/TheEvidence-COSP.pdf
- Te Pou. Service User Workforce Survey: Where are we at? The National Centre of Mental Health Research, Information and Workforce Development, Auckland, New Zealand. 2010.
- Tondora J, O'Connell M, Miller R, Dinzeo T, Bellamy C, Andres-Hyman R, Davidson L. A clinical trial of peerbased culturally responsive person-centered care for psychosis for African Americans and Latinos. Clinical Trials 2010;7:368-79.
- Trachtenberg M, Parsonage M, Shepherd G, Boardman J. Peer support workers in mental health care: it is good value for money? London, Centre for Mental Health. 2013.
- Tracy B. Evidence-based practices or value-based services? Psychiatr Serv, 2003;54(11):1437.
- Van Tosh L, del Vecchio P. Consumer-operated self-help programs: A technical report. Rockville, MD: Center for Mental Health Services. 2000. Available at: http://akmhcweb.org/docs/selfhelp.pdf
- Vestal C. Respite centers offer a way to avoid mental health crisis and the hospital. Washington Post, June 8th 2015. Available at: www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/respite-centers-offer-a-way-to-avoid-mental-health-crisis-and-the-hospital/2015/06/08/bb9d655e-fd86-11e4-8b6c-0dcce21e223d_story.html
- Victorian Government Department of Human Services. Consumer Leadership: A literature review. Victoria, Australia. 2007.
- Voices Vic. About Hearing Voices Groups: Information Pack for Managers and Clinicians. 2009. Available at: https://ds1iq4mk21n08.cloudfront.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/VoicesVic-Info-pack-managersclinicians-V1-Jan2009.pdf
- Walker G, Bryant W. Peer Support in Adult Mental Health Services: A Metasynthesis of Qualitative Findings. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013;36(1):28–34.
- Watson S. Peer Workforce Development: Keynote Presentation. South Eastern Sydney Local Health District Recovery Symposium. 2013.

- Yanos P, Primavera L, Knight E. Consumer-run service participation, recovery of social functioning, and the mediating role of psychological factors. Psychiatr Serv 2001;52(4):493-500.
- Yates B, Mannix D, Freed M, Campbell J, Johnsen M, Jones K, Blyler C. Consumer-Operated Service Programs: Monetary and Donated Costs and Cost-Effectiveness. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2011;35(2):91–99.

6 Appendix A: How has the review been conducted?

A pluralistic approach was taken to answering the questions posed in this review, endeavouring to take into account both the peer-reviewed published literature and other relevant literature.

Peer-reviewed publications and reports in academic databases (Cochrane, Medline, PsycINFO and Scopus) were searched, using the search terms "consumer operated services," "consumer run", "consumer led", "peer support" and "mental health." This yielded several thousand results. Articles were excluded that were published before 2000. The resulting literature was then screened for articles in which mental health consumers were providing direct support (to other mental health consumers aged 18-65), and - crucially - which had an evaluative component that measured the effectiveness of this support. This process involved reviewing abstracts and filtering out those not directly relevant to this review. Relevant items from the reference lists of relevant articles were also included. It is possible that some studies have been missed, if their name does not indicate either that they are focused on consumer-operated services, or that they include an evaluative component.

This peer-reviewed literature base was supplemented with grey literature, from the collections of both the reviewers and by conducting a Google search using the same key terms. Materials were included that had national or international significance, and were published after 2005. Given the tight time frame for this review, only a small selection of grey literature was included, focusing primarily on literature that had relevance to the evaluative component of this review.

7 Appendix B: Papers included in the review

Lead Title Type of Country Recovery outcome other our measured	
----------------------------------------------------------------	--

Strong evidence: Studies were considered strong evidence if they included multiple studies that each had robust research design, plus some understanding was demonstrated of the specific value of peer work.

Doughty et al 2011	Can consumer-led mental health services be equally effective? An integrative review of CLMH services in high-income countries	Consumer- run services	International	Employment, housing, reduction in hospitalisation (and thus cost of services)	No	29 matched studies compared consumer-led services with traditional services. Overall, consumer-led services reported equally positive outcomes, especially for practical outcomes. Underfunding is mentioned as a barrier. Notes that recovery oriented outcomes should be prioritised in future studies
Solomon et al 2001	The state of knowledge of the effectiveness of consumer provided services	Various consumer- operated services	USA	Various	No	Provides an overview and analysis of the evidence of effectiveness of consumer-provided services, as of 2001. Concludes that there is (at that point) insufficient evidence of the effectiveness of consumer provided services, based on a lack of strength of the evidence. Predicts [accurately] that research is likely to continue to be predominantly examining consumer services as adjuncts to mainstream services, rather than examining stand-alone consumer run services

understanding of the specific value of peer work.

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Cook et al 2012	A randomised controlled trial of effects of wellness recovery action planning on depression, anxiety and recovery	Peer-led manualised intervention (WRAP)	USA	Depression and anxiety symptoms, self-perceived recovery (empowerment, quality of life, hope, meaning of life, and tolerable symptom levels)	Yes	RCT, 519 participants assigned either to a Wellness Recovery Action Plan group (8 weeks of 2.5 hour sessions facilitated by peers in recovery) or to treatment as usual (a waitlist). Interviewed at baseline, after 2 months and after 8 months. WRAP group participants reported significantly greater reductions in symptoms and total Recovery Assessment Scale scores, as well as the subscales measuring personal confidence and goal orientation. It was also found that more WRAP sessions attended correlated with greater improvement
Gestell- Timmermans et al 2012	Effects of a Peer-Run Course on Recovery From Serious Mental Illness: A Randomized Controlled Trial	Peer support	Netherlands	Empowerment, hope, self-efficacy, quality of life, loneliness	No	RCT, 333 participants assigned to either manualised, 12- week peer-run course ("Recovery is up to you") or a wait-list for the course. The peer-run intervention had a significant positive effect on empowerment, hope and self-efficacy, but not on quality of life and loneliness. Effects persisted 3-months after course completion
Cook et al 2011	Randomized controlled trial of peer-led recovery education using Building Recovery of Individual Dreams and Goals through Education and Support (BRIDGES)	Peer educators facilitating a manualised self- management course	USA	Recovery (Recovery Assessment Scale), hopefulness, empowerment, self-esteem, self- assertiveness	Yes	428 participants were assigned either to an 8-week peer-led mental illness intervention or to a wait-list control group. Compared with controls, the participants in the peer-led training had significantly greater improvements in total Recovery Assessment Scale scores, as well as subclass measuring personal confidence and tolerable symptoms, and significantly greater improvement in hopefulness. <i>Found</i> <i>comparable results across urban, suburban and rural</i> <i>settings</i>

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Segal et al 2011	Outcomes from Consumer- Operated and Community Mental Health Services: A Randomized Control Trial	Consumer- run services	USA	Symptom severity, personal empowerment, self-efficacy, independent social integration, hopelessness	No	RCT examined the effectiveness of a 'hierarchically organised board-and-staff-run Consumer-Operated- Service-Program (COSP)' - a drop in centre collocated with a Community Mental Health Agency (CMHA). 139 new clients were assigned to either both or just the CMHA and then assessed at both baseline and after 8 months on a measure of symptom severity and four recovery-focused measures: personal empowerment, self-efficacy, independent social integration and hopelessness. Results favoured CMHA-only service, on social integration, personal empowerment and self- efficacy. Neither symptomatology nor hopelessness differed by service across time. <i>Limitations: findings</i> <i>based on only one COSP</i>
Segal et al 2010	Self-help and community mental health agency outcomes: A recovery- focused randomized controlled trial	Consumer- run self-help agency	USA	Personal empowerment, self-efficacy, social integration, hope, psychological functioning	No	RCT, 505 participants seeking support at a community mental health agency were randomly assigned to either the agency alone, or to both the agency and one of five consumer-run self-help agencies, managed as participatory democracies. Member-clients were assessed at baseline and at one, three, and eight months on five recovery-focused outcome measures. Overall results showed significant differences in favour of the combined services

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Tondora et al 2010	A clinical trial of peer-based culturally responsive person- centered care for psychosis for African Americans and Latinos	Consumers offering support to participate in treatment planning and facilitating social activities	USA	Self-management, satisfaction with services, quality of life	Yes	RCT, involving Latinos and African Americans (on the basis that ethnic minorities tend to be most disenfranchised in the mental health system), with psychotic diagnoses. 120 people in each of three groups: control group received standard care (Illness Recovery Management), 2 experimental groups were also offered peer mentors who facilitated more active participation in treatment planning meetings, while one group also had peer-run weekly social/recreational activities. Participants were explicitly asked about their cultural needs and culturally relevant experiences. Assessed at baseline, 6 months and 12 months post-intervention. Both interventions and research conducted in English or Spanish where appropriate. RCT results not published yet. The fact that the supervisory staff were all Caucasian caused significant tension. One participant found the groups' ethnic segregation uncomfortable and discriminatory. Also found that 6 months was too short to build trusting relationship with peer supporter. Research concern was also expressed that some of the peer workers were available to the participants in peer centre roles. 'Skilled and assertive" peer staff were required to attend additional "art of diplomacy" training in response to their advocacy efforts. "This training was necessary in order to foster a productive team dynamic where the mentor would be perceived as a helpful supplement rather than as an external threat or critic." (2010:376). A challenge to the study was a conflict between the desires of participants (to engage with one, trusted peer) and the research design. It was also found that Latinos were "more difficult to engage" in the social side, as they stated they already had well-developed community and social networks

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Greenfield et al 2008	A randomized trial of a mental health consumer- managed alternative to civil commitment for acute psychiatric crisis	Consumer- run crisis alternative	USA	Costs, level of functioning, psychiatric symptoms, strengths, treatment satisfaction	No	RCT, 393 participants. Compared two groups - consumer-run crisis residential program, emphasising client decision and involvement in recovery, or locked, inpatient psychiatric facility run by medically trained professional staff. Participants in the consumer-run crisis residential program had significantly greater improvements, including fewer psychiatric symptoms and greater life satisfaction
Rogers et al 2007; see also Campbell 2006 and Clay et al 2005	Effects of participation in consumer-operated service programs on both personal and organizationally mediated empowerment: Results of multisite study	Various consumer- operated service	USA	Empowerment, social inclusion, well-being, housing, employment, hope, recovery, program satisfaction	Yes	RCT involving 8 sites, 1827 participants. Recruited from traditional mental health services and randomised to either add consumer-operated service (COSP) or not. Diverse COSP models including drop-in centres, mutual support groups and educational/advocacy programs. Individuals participating in the COSPs perceived higher levels of empowerment than those in the control group and greater attendance at the COSPs increased this effect. Overall effect sizes were modest, due to large variations between the effectiveness of different COSPs. Specific attention was paid to the cultural appropriateness of outcome measures (review by a panel with cross-cultural expertise); some sites also specifically sought to create a representative ethnic mix of participants, although nothing was reported of any impact of these measures on the results. Participation in the COSPs was entirely voluntary: some people who were assigned to the COSP and were in no way pushed to be involved (ie participation was entirely voluntary)

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Rowe et al 2007	A peer-support, group intervention to reduce substance use and criminality among persons with severe mental illness	Peer support	USA	Alcohol use, drug use, criminal justice charges	Yes	Experimental group used community-oriented group intervention with citizenship training and peer support, combined with standard clinical treatment, including jail diversion. Control group used just standard clinical treatment with jail diversion. Experimental group showed significantly reduced alcohol consumption compared with control group. Drug use and criminal justice charges decreased significantly across both groups
Nelson et al, 2006a, b, 2007, Ochocka et al, 2006; Janzen et al 2006	A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 1–Literature review and overview of the study; Part 2–a quantitative study of impacts of participation on new members; Part 3–a qualitative study of impacts of participation on new members; A longitudinal study of mental health consumer/survivor initiatives: Part 4–Benefits beyond the self?; Part 5–Outcomes at 3- year follow-up	Peer support	Canada	Quality of life, hospitalisation, use of emergency services, employment and education	No	118 participants, four entirely consumer-run organisations v no service. Qualitative and Participatory Action Research. Participants in consumer-run orgs had small increase in quality of life, fewer days spent in psychiatric hospital, less use of emergency services, greater participation in employment or education; more stable mental health, enhanced social support, sustained work, stable income. These results continued after 3 years
Burti et al 2005	Does additional care provided by a consumer self- help group improve psychiatric outcome? A study in an Italian community- based psychiatric service	Self-help group	Italy	Hospital admissions, duration of stay in hospital, higher levels of service satisfaction, symptoms	No	2-year study, 88 participants. Consumer run self-help group v regular community mental health services. Clients who attended consumer-run self-help group decreased their number of admissions during the study period and duration of stay in hospital; and had higher level of service satisfaction. Non-self-help group members identified higher number of unmet needs. No difference in symptoms

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Dumont et al 2002	Findings from a consumer/survivor defined alternative to psychiatric hospitalization	Consumer- run crisis alternative	USA	Empowerment, shorter hospital stays, fewer hospital admissions	No	RCT, 265 participants, assigned either to a consumer- run crisis hostel and peer support or access to hospital- based services only. Those with access to the hostel had significantly fewer hospital admissions, shorter duration of stays in hospitals and greater levels of satisfaction with services. Cost per patient for crisis services was reduced by almost a third
Chinman et al 2001	Chronicity reconsidered: Improving person- environment fit through a consumer-run service	Consumer- run program	USA	Hospital admissions	Yes	158 participants, matched-comparison group, longitudinal study, either outpatient services or outpatient services plus a consumer-run Welcome Basket Program. Clients who received both had 50% reduction in hospitalisations. However, comparison of matched samples suggested no difference in either the number of re-admissions to hospital or the number of inpatient days

Weak evidence: Studies were considered weak if they included only a single study, and this study had significant limitations, or if they demonstrated a considerable misunderstanding of consumer work.

Australian	Evaluation of the Community	Consumer	Australia	Ability to manage	No	Questionaires were filled out by 36 participants in
Healthcare	Mental Health Intentional	operated		daily life, better		Consumer Operated Services (COS), reflecting on how
Associates	Peer Support Training and	services		relationships,		the service users had benefited from participating. More
2013	Consumer Operated Services			improved ability		standardised measures were rejected as misaligned with
				to manage		the programs' philosophical underpinnings. Participants
				emotions,		were very satisfied with the COS programs and with
				improved social		Intentional Peer Support model and a number of
				interaction and		recovery benefits were found. Some changes were
				reductions in		suggested to the structure of the training, including an
				hospitalisations		accreditation process

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Corrigan 2013	The impact of self-stigma and mutual help programs on the quality of life of people with serious mental illnesses	Mutual help groups	USA	Quality of life, self-stigma	Yes	85 people who had used mutual help groups - specifically noted as an example of a Consumer Operated Service - completed self-reported measures of quality of life, self-stigma, group identification and social support. They found that <i>satisfaction</i> rather than just <i>participation</i> in mutual help programs was associated with reduced self-stigma, increased group identification, social support and quality of life
Croft et al 2013	Impact of the 2nd Story Peer Respite Program on Use of Inpatient and Emergency Services	Peer-run respite	USA	Use of emergency and inpatient services	Yes	Matched pairs of 139 users of a peer respite and 139 non-users with similar histories of behavioural health service use and demographic characteristics were compared. The odds of using any impatient or emergency services after the program start were approximately 70% lower among respite users than among non-respite users, although the odds increased with each additional respite day. Among individuals who used any impatient or emergency serices, a longer stay in respite was associated with few hours of impatient and emergency service use. However, the association was one of diminishing returns, with negligible decreases predicted beyond 14 respite days
Jones et al 2013	Peer Support, Self- Determination, and Treatment Engagement: A Qualitative Investigation	Peer-led WRAP groups	USA	Self-determination and self- awareness, advocacy, medication- related decision- making and meaningful engagement with traditional providers	Yes	Focus groups with 54 participants/facilitators of Wellness Recovery Action Plan (WRAP) groups, analysed using grounded theory. Found general consensus about the value of the group on a variety of measures of recovery, and a diversity of participant experiences with medication. Study specifically challenges "treatment adherence" as a goal for recovery-oriented services, supporting self-determination instead

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Segal et al 2013a	Are all consumer-operated programs empowering self- help agencies?	Consumer- run services (both consumer- board-run and participatory democracy)	USA	Empowerment	No	Participant democracy-style organisations increased (self-rated) participant empowerment more than consumer-board-staff-run organisations
Segal et al 2013b	Self-stigma and empowerment in combined- CMHS and consumer-run services - Two controlled trials	Consumer- run services (both consumer- board run and self- help)	USA	Self-stigma, organizational empowerment, self-efficacy	No	The study compared the relative effectiveness of two types of consumer-run services (in conjunction with a community mental health agency) and also compared them with a community mental health agency alone. Participants in the participatory democracy self-help agency experienced the most positive changes, while participants in the hierarchical organisation showed negative changes. Limitations of the study include that only one "hierarchical" consumer-run organisation was involved and the study assumes that the operative difference was the style of participation structure (rather than, say, a poorly run service)
Pickett et al 2012	Peer-led Recovery International groups for mental health consumers	Peer-led groups	USA	Psychiatric symptoms	No	79 participants, no control group. Interviewed participants about the benefits of participation in Recovery International. Participants reported increased skills in being able to cope with their illness

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Bologna et al 2011	Evaluation of a Peer-Run Hospital Diversion Program: A Descriptive Study	Peer-Run hospital diversion program	USA	Quality of life (including life satisfaction and social involvement)	Yes	An uncontrolled, single-site evaluation of participants in a peer-run hospital diversion program's perceptions of care and recovery, comparing their experience with a non-peer-run acute inpatient program. A purposive sample of 39 participants rated the quality and type of services they received and their beliefs about the impact of these services on their recovery and life satisfaction. Peer-run service seen as more client-centred, less restrictive and the staff more respectful, decreasing stigma and increasing life satisfaction and social involvement
Fukui et al 2010	Pathways to Recovery (PTR): Impact of Peer-Led Group Participation on Mental Health Recovery Outcomes	Peer-led groups	USA	Self-esteem, self- efficacy, social support, spiritual well-being, and psychiatric symptoms	No	Found positive results for participants in peer-led groups, but very small study with no control group. Also the content of the course was not peer-developed (it was written by social workers)
Barbic et al 2008	A randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of a modified Recovery Workbook program: preliminary findings	Manualised peer-led group	Canada	Hope, empowerment, Recovery Assessment Scale, quality of life	No	RCT, 33 participants, randomly assigned to either assertive community treatment services, or assertive treatment services plus a Recovery Workbook group (12 week course). Perceived levels of hope, empowerment, recovery and quality of life were assessed at baseline and after 12 weeks. Participation in group led to positive changes in hope, empowerment and recovery but not quality of life
Castelein et al 2008	The effectiveness of peer support groups in psychosis: a randomized controlled trial	Peer support (minimally guided group)	Netherlands	Social network, social support, self-efficacy, self- esteem and quality of life	No	RCT, 106 participants all with psychosis. 8 months peer support vs control group (wait list). Peer support group had a positive impact on social network and social support compared with control condition. High attenders favoured over low attenders on increased social support, self-efficacy and quality of life. Limitation: Groups were "minimally guided" by nurses

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Hodges et al 2008	Predictors of hope among members of mental health self-help agencies	Consumer- run self-help agency	USA	Hope, self-efficacy	Yes	Interviews with 310 long-term users, many (49%) homeless, of four self-help agencies, in which participants actively shaped the service. Study concluded that "SHAs [Self-Help Agencies] are hope- inducing, empowering agencies." Correlation found between agencies that actively involved participants and self-efficacy and hope. Limitations: no control group
Lawn et al 2008	Mental health peer support for hospital avoidance and early discharge: An Australian example of consumer driven and operated service	Peer support	Australia	Bed days saved, crisis service contact, ED presentations, and readmission rates	No	Based on 3 months of operation, 49 packages of support were offered by peer supporters, leading to an estimated saving of 300 bed days (using the participants' prior experiences of hospitalisation as controls), which was calculated as \$93,150 saved
Corrigan 2006	Impact of Consumer- Operated Services on Empowerment and Recovery of People with Psychiatric Disabilities	Peer support	USA	Empowerment; confidence and hope, willingness to ask for help, goal orientation, symptoms, self- esteem & self- efficacy + more	Yes	1824 people indicated whether they had participated in peer support programs or not. Small improvements on many recovery measures
Nelson et al 2006	Quantity and quality of participation and outcomes of participation in mental health consumer-run organizations	Consumer- run organisation	Canada	Social support, community integration, quality of life, personal empowerment, employment and education	No	They studied the participation patterns and recovery of 79 new members in 4 consumer-run organizations in Ontario, over 18m months. Positive outcomes were found in a number of recovery domains, particularly at 9 months, and were found to be dependent on service satisfaction (ie. whether they were satisfied with the service and would recommend it to others) but not on the amount of participation

Lead author, date	Title	Type of peer involvement	Country	Recovery outcomes (or other outcomes) measured	Consumer involvement?*	Notes on study
Segal et al 2002	Determinants of client outcomes in self-help agencies	Consumer- run self-help agency	USA	Independent social functioning, assisted social functioning, personal empowerment	Yes	255 long-term users of four self-help agencies were interviewed at baseline and at 6 months. Personal empowerment increased, independent social functioning remained the same, while assisted social functioning decreased over the period. There was a positive association between 'organisationally mediated empowerment' (ie. how much participants could meaningfully participate in decisions about their care and the way the organisation delivers services) and all three outcomes
Yanos et al 2001	Consumer-run service participation, recovery of social functioning, and the mediating role of psychological factors	Consumer- run services	USA	Social functioning	No	60 participants, drawn from 2 peer-run services and one community mental health service. Found that consumers using peer-run services had better social functioning
Van Tosh et al 2000	Consumer-operated self- help programs: A technical report	Peer-run programs	USA	Independence, empowerment, self-esteem, social support	Yes	Examines 13 peer-run programs, based on self- reporting by participants. The main emphasis of the report was on program descriptions, goals and objectives, with evaluation as a very small element. The resource is dated but still a valuable articulation of what peer-run services are able to do

*A "Yes" for this column was based on either (a) consumer participation in the research process being explicitly acknowledged or (b) study authors who are professionally identified as consumers. There may be some errors, for example where authors who are consumers have not chosen to identify themselves as consumers explicitly for the purposes of the article.